SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner/Appellant,

CASE NO. SC00-1916

v.

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER
AGENCY and FLORIDA MUNICIPAL
ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondent/Appellee,

PETITIONER, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES MC AULEY
FLA. BAR NO. 381233
JARRELL L. MURCHISON
FLA. BAR NO. 182894
ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS GENERAL
OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL
TAX SECTION, CAPITOL BLDG.
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner/Appellant, Department of Revenue, will be referred to as "the Department" or "DOR" in the Department's Initial Brief.

Respondent/Appellee, will be referred to as "FMPA" "FMEA" or "Appellees" in the Department's Initial Brief.

References to the Record on Appeal will be prefixed with Vol., followed by the appropriate volume number, then the letter R, followed by the appropriate page number, e.g. Vol. I, R-1-5.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Municipal Agency (hereinafter "FMPA") is a non-profit, wholesale electric power supplier, owned by the municipalities it serves, and created under Ch. 163, Part I, Fla. Stat. (1997). FMPA is a municipal electric utility, subject to s. 212.05 (1)(f), Fla. Stat., and Fla. Admin. Code R. 12A-1.001(9), promulgated by the Department of Revenue (hereinafter "Department"). (Vol. I, R-13)

The Florida Municipal Electric Association, Inc.

(hereinafter "FMEA") is a trade association that represents the interests of 32 municipally owned electric utilities in the State of Florida. FMEA's members are municipal electric utilities, subject to Fla. Admin. Code R. 12A-1.001(9), promulgated by the Department. (Vol. I, R-13)

The Department is an agency of the executive branch of state government with the authority to interpret Section 212.05 (1)(f) Fla. Stat., and Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), and to promulgate rules relating to the administration of these statutes, including Fla. Admin. Code R. 12A-1.001(9).

The Department is given jurisdiction to issue a declaratory statement interpreting Section 212.05(1)(f), Fla. Stat., and Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), pursuant to Sections 20.21 and 120.565, Fla. Stat., and Fla. Admin. Code R. 12-3.007.

The Department issued a Declaratory Statement in this instant case based upon a Petition filed with the Department on June 3, 1999. The Department issued a Declaratory Statement on September 10, 1999 which is the subject matter of this appeal. (Vol. I, R-28-33). The Department declaratory statement rejected the Appellee's contention that Ch. 96-397, Section 26, at 2488, Laws of Fla., was intended to create a new statutory exemption from sales tax for machinery and equipment purchased to carry out maintenance or repair.

On August 16, 2000 the First District Court of Appeal issued an opinion declaring that the statute, as currently written, does provide for such a sales tax exemption and certified the case as a matter of great public importance. See Florida Municipal Power Agency and Florida Municipal Electric Association, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1933 (Fla. First DCA August 16, 2000). On September 13, 2000 the Department timely filed its Notice of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The case is an appeal of Florida Municipal Power Agency and Florida Municipal Electric Association, Inc. v. Department of Revenue, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D1933 (Fla. First DCA August 16, 2000) [hereinafter "Power."]. The appeal in this case concerns the Department of Revenue's Declaratory Statement interpretation of the application of Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat., to the members of Appellants' Association and FMPA. This court has jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

The issue for this court to decide is a question of great public importance as framed by the First District in its opinion: WHETHER SECTION 212.08(6), FLORIDA STATUTES, EXEMPTS FROM SALES TAXATION THOSE MATERIALS PURCHASED BY MUNICIPALLY OWNED UTILITIES FOR USE IN THE REPAIR, REPLACEMENT, OR REFURBISHMENT OF THEIR EXISTING ELECTRIC ENERGY TRANSMISSION OR DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS?

Power, at D1933.

The Department submits that this case is a case of great public importance because the ruling by the First District in this case will have a substantial economic impact to the state through the creation of a tax exemption in a major Florida industry where none previously existed and where no economic impact was anticipated. Further, this new unanticipated tax exemption will affect only one portion of the entire electric

industry within this state. Private electric companies in this state will not enjoy the benefits of this tax exemption. The First's adoption of FMPA's plain language argument produces an incorrect and erroneous result when examined in the context of Chapter 96-397, a revisor's bill, which by its plain language was directed toward deletion of obsolete statutory language. The First's decision produces a substantial unanticipated windfall to the public electric industry. The First District's interpretation of this statute is contrary to the Department's long-standing interpretation of the statute based upon its prior administration of the statute, upon the legislative history of the statute, upon this Court's long-standing case law that tax exemptions are to be construed narrowly and against the taxpayer, and upon jurisprudence of this Court counseling avoidance of unreasonable results.

It is well established in Florida's jurisprudence that a tax exemption must be strictly construed against the party claiming the exemption. State Department of Revenue v. Anderson, 403 So. 2d 397 (Fla. 1981). The legislature has codified this same policy in the Florida Statutes. See Section 212.08(13), Fla. Stat. The Department has correctly applied this jurisprudence and indeed the statutes in its Declaratory Statement concerning the exemption found in Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat. The Department is without authority to give an exemption through a rule to that

which is not expressly created by statute.

The First District supported its holding with a misapplication of a line of cases recognizing strict construction of statutes according to their plain meaning. Power, at D1934.

This construction does not apply in construing an exemption statute which must be construed against the taxpayer. State

Department of Revenue v. Anderson, 403 So. 2d 397 (Fla. 1981).

Moreover, it is contrary to this court's repeated iteration "[we] will not give a statute a literal interpretation [that] would produce "an unreasonable or ridiculous conclusion." Florida

Dept. of Business and Professional Regulation, Div. of

Pari-Mutuel Wagering v. Investment Corp. of Palm Beach,747 So. 2d 374, 383 (Fla. 1999) [quoting Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla.1984)].

Sales tax is imposed equally on both public and private utility service providers. The tax imposed on the Appellees is found in Section 212.05(1)(f), Fla. Stat., not in Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat. Section 212.05(1)(f), Fla. Stat., provides in part that the tax is also imposed:

At the rate of 6 percent on the sale, rental, use, consumption, or storage for use in this state of machines and equipment, and parts and accessories therefore, ... to be used in furnishing ... public utility services.¹

¹ The term "utility service" is defined in s. 203.012(9), Fla. Stat., to mean "electricity for light, heat, or power;..."

Governmental units are granted a specific exemption from the payment of sales or use tax to the extent provided in s.

212.08(6), Fla. Stat. Generally, a municipal electric utility would be subject to sales tax to the extent it does not enjoy an exemption because it is a political subdivision. The 1996 amendment resulting in the present statutory language, with stricken words included, is as follows:

This exemption does not include sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for use in any political subdivision or municipality in this state of machines and equipment and parts and accessories therefore used in the generation, transmission, or distribution of electrical energy by systems owned and operated by a political subdivision in this state except sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for which sales, rental use, consumption, or storage for bonds or revenue certificates are validated on or before January 1,1973, for transmission or distribution expansion.

The amendment of the exemption to eliminate the language concerning bond or revenue certificates did not, in the Department's view, create a new exemption for repairs or maintenance. A fair reading of the amendment suggests it eliminated superfluous language which functioned as a limiting expression to an exemption when enacted in 1971.

In its holding the First District states that the Department's interpretation of the effect of the amendment to

Section 212.02, Fla. Stat., defines the term "person" to include municipalities within the scope of the Chapter.

 $^{^3}$ Ch. 96-397, Section 26, at 2488, Laws of Fla.

Section 212.06(8), Fla. Stat., is clearly erroneous and contrary to its plain meaning. <u>Power</u>, at D1933. The First District in its opinion stated that the legislative intent must primarily come from the language of the statutes themselves. <u>Power</u>, at D1934.

However, this Court has repeatedly recognized that it is inappropriate to give a statute a literal interpretation that would produce unreasonable or ridiculous results. In contrast to the First District's holding, a more correct reading of the statute suggests that the 1996 amendment does not create a new tax exemption but merely eliminates language which resulted in a further limitation of an exemption created in 1971. Where a statute enumerates the things on which it is to operate, it is ordinarily to be construed as excluding from its operation all things not expressly mentioned therein. Ideal Farms Drainage District v. Certain Lands, 19 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1934); Dobbs v. Sea Isle Hotel, 56 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1952); Thayer v. State, 335 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1976)..

The appropriate strict construction of this exemption results in a further limiting of the scope of the exemption, rather than an expansion. This is supported by the fact that the amendment was included in a bill replete with revisionary enactments to remove obsolete language and the fact that the Declaratory Statement indicated that Legislative Staff Analysis

concluded that there would be no fiscal impact as a result of the amendment (Vol. I, R-32). Thus, the language removed created no new exemption.

ARGUMENT

I. EXEMPTIONS TO TAXING STATUTES ARE SPECIAL PRIVILEGES GRANTED BY THE LEGISLATURE WHICH REQUIRE STRICT CONSTRUCTION; THE DEPARTMENT'S RULE ADDRESSING THIS EXEMPTION, BY VIRTUE OF ITS LONG STANDING INTERPRETATION, HAS RECEIVED THE APPROVAL OF THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE.

The Appellees take issue with the Department's interpretation based upon their reading of an amendment made to s. 212.08(6), Fla. Stat., by Ch. 96-397, Section 26, at 2488, Laws of Fla. It should be noted that this amendment affected an exemption provision, not the taxing statute.

A tax exemption must be strictly construed against the party claiming the exemption. State Department of Revenue v. Anderson, 403 So. 2d 397 (Fla. 1981). The amendment resulting in the present statutory language, with stricken words included, is as follows:

This exemption does not include sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for use in any political subdivision or municipality in this state of machines and equipment and parts and accessories therefore used in the generation, transmission, or distribution of electrical energy by systems owned and operated by a political subdivision in this state except sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for which sales,

⁴ Appellees' argument in their Initial Brief below is fatally flawed because they misconstrue s. 212.08(6), Fla. Stat., to be a taxing statute when, in fact, it is an exemption statute.

rental use, consumption, or storage for bonds or revenue certificates are validated on or before January 1,1973, for transmission or distribution expansion.

Ch. 96-397, § 26 at 2488, Laws of Fla.

The Department's current Fla. Admin. Code R. 12A-1.001(9)(b), interpreted the governmental exemption as it applied to electrical energy systems owned and operated by a political subdivision or municipality in this state prior to the amendment of the statute by Ch. 96-397, Section 26, at 2488, Laws of Fla. Florida Administrative Code Rule 12A-1.001(9)(b) provided:

(b) Sales of machines and equipment and parts and accessories therefor for generation, transmission, or distribution of electric energy by systems owned and operated by a political subdivision or municipality in this state shall be subject to the tax except sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for which bonds or revenue certificates are validated on or before January 1, 1973, for transmission or distribution expansion only. See, s. 212.08(5)(c), Fla. Stat.

The above-referenced rule reflected the view that the sales of machines and equipment used for generation, transmission, or distribution of electric energy by systems owned and operated by a political subdivision or municipality in this state shall be subject to the tax.

Appellees have explicitly acknowledged in their Initial brief in the District Court that association members are

generally subject to tax found in Chapter 212, Fla. Stat.⁵
Appellees arguments below focused on the grounds of exemption.
The general statement that members of the association are subject to tax is limited, as acknowledged in the rule, by the provisions of statutory exemption then found in Section 212.08(5)(c), Fla.
Stat. The statute contained an exemption for "... sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for use in any political subdivision ... for which bonds or revenue certificates are validated on or before January 1, 1973, for transmission or distribution expansion."

The exemption language prior to the 1996 amendment sheltered from tax certain purchases which met the dual criteria of both time and specific use. Prior to the amendment of the statute by Ch. 96-397, s. 26, at 2488, Laws of Fla., an exemption required meeting two conditions: 1) equipment was purchased for expansion of transmission or distribution; and, 2) the purchase related to bonds or revenue certificates validated on or before January 1, 1973. Only the second criteria was eliminated, not the first.

See Ch. 96-397, Section 26 at 2488, Laws of Fla.

Thus, prior to the 1996 amendment, this statute contained an exemption for a narrowly drafted target. The First District

⁵ See: Page 4 of the Appellees' Initial Brief before the First District Court of Appeal. Appellees acknowledge the statutory obligation to pay sales tax on machines and equipment for transmission and distribution.

agreed with this view, but stated that the amendment broadened the general governmental entity sales tax exemption. Power, D1933. The Department, however, believes that the 1996 amendment, as the plain language indicated, did not broaden the scope of the exemption but, instead, it followed the long-standing interpretation of the statute that the exemption pertained solely to the purchase of equipment for the transmission or distribution for expansion of an electrical energy system owned by a political subdivision. The amendment, in effect, by its deletion of language actually limited once again, as previous amendments to the statute by the legislature did, the scope of the exemption.

In its analysis of the effect of the 1996 amendment on the scope of the exemption the First District observed at D1933 that the

statute, as currently written, accomplishes this broadening of the general sales tax exemption by limiting the scope of the exclusion to the exemption only to those materials purchased by these entities for use in the expansion of existing transmission or distribution systems.

The question before this Court that whether the 1996 amendment purports to exempt from sales taxation materials purchased by municipally owned utilities for use in the repair, replacement, or refurbishing of existing electric energy transmission or distribution systems is of great public importance precisely because of the First District's ruling in this case. The

Department agrees with the First District that it is of great public importance because the First District's ruling will have a substantial economic impact to the state through the creation of a tax exemption in a major Florida industry where none previously existed and where no fiscal impact was anticipated.

Simply on its face, the amendment removes language from the statute. This removal of language could only further limit the scope, not broaden it, of the exemption that the municipalities This court has held on numerous occasions for over enjoyed. three quarters of a century that where a statute enumerates the things on which it is to operate, it is ordinarily to be construed as excluding from its operation all things not expressly mentioned therein. Ideal Farms Drainage District v. Certain Lands, 19 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1934); Dobbs v. Sea Isle <u>Hotel</u>, 56 So. 2d 341 (Fla. 1952); <u>Thayer v. State</u>, 335 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1976). It is simply contrary to tenets of statutory construction to presume an exemption has now been created by the deletion of statutory language. It would seem that only the addition of language to a statute would broaden the scope of a statute. Therefore, the deletion by the legislature of the second criteria as explained above did not as the First District held broaden the scope of the exemption to include sales made for the repair, replacement and refurbishment of existing transmission or distribution systems.

The subject of the exemption was, and remains, *expansion* of electrical energy by systems owned by municipalities.

II. THE CONTEXT OF THE 1996 AMENDMENT FURTHER SUPPORTS
THE DEPARTMENT'S INTERPRETATION; CH.96-397 GENERALLY
FUNCTIONED AS A REVISOR'S BILL ELIMINATING SURPLUS
OR OBSOLETE LANGUAGE.

The issue in this case is whether purchases made by municipal electric utilities of electric transmission and distribution equipment for other than transmission or distribution expansion - e.g., for repair or maintenance - are exempt from sales taxation pursuant to Section 212.08(6), Fla. Stat.

The 1996 amendment of the exemption to eliminate the language concerning bond or revenue certificates <u>did not</u>, in the Department's view, create a new exemption for repairs or maintenance. Put in another light, it is fair to say that the exemption never addressed repairs. The statutory amendment addressed expansion only. <u>See Ch. 96-397</u>, Section 26 at 2488, Laws of Fla. The correct reading of the amendment suggests it eliminated superfluous language which functioned as a limiting expression to an exemption when enacted in 1971. This bill in

⁶ The limiting language "on or before January 1, 1973" was added in 1971 through Ch. 71-360, Section 7, at 1874-1875, Laws of Fla. For years preceding 1973, the language logically limited the scope of exemption after the date of enactment up to the year 1973. Thereafter, it limited the scope of exemption to 1973 for subsequent years.

fact contained numerous actions taken by the legislature to delete surplus or obsolete language. An important circumstance shedding light on the legislative intent is the title to Chapter 96-397 because the title may be considered as an aid to statutory interpretation. See State ex rel. Szabo Food Services, Inc. v. Dickinson, 286 So. 2d 529, 531 (Fla. 1973). The title to Chapter

⁷ A partial list of these revisions is provided for purpose of viewing this amendment in the context of the overall enactment. Note the repeated focus on elimination of obsolete material. The Summary of Senate Bill 584 (Chapter 96-397) stated in part:

An act relating to taxation;... deleting **obsolete** rates for the tax on gross receipts for utility services, amending s. 203.04, F.S.; deleting obsolete provisions which repealed laws granting exemptions from gross receipts taxes; repealing s. 206.445, F.S., which provides authority for the settlement or compromise of penalties or interest which is duplicated in chapter 213; amending ss.206.9915, 336.021, and 326.025, F.S., to conform, amending s. 212.031, F.S., deleting an obsolete exemption from the tax on the lease or rental of or license in real property; amending s. 212.04, F.S., deleting an **obsolete** exemption to the tax on admissions; amending s. 212.05, F.S., deleting obsolete provisions relating to occasional sales of vehicles and tax on interstate telecommunications services; deleting an obsolete rate of tax on charges for use of coinoperated amusement machines, repealing s. 212.20(6) (c), F.S., which provides for distribution of the proceeds of a tax on the unlawful sale of drugs, cannabis, and controlled substances, which has been held unconstitutional; amending s. 212.054, F.S., deleting obsolete provisions relating to distribution of discretionary sales surtax proceeds; amending s. 212.0599, F.S., deleting obsolete provisions relating to implementing rules; amending s. 212.08, F.S.; deleting **obsolete** provisions relating to exemptions for political subdivisions.... (e.s)

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