#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC00-1916

Lower Tribunal No.: 1D99-3770

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Petitioner / Appellant,

V.

FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY and FLORIDA MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Respondents / Appellees.

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS FLORIDA MUNICIPAL POWER AGENCY and FLORIDA MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC ASSOCIATION, INC.

FREDERICK M. BRYANT Florida Bar No. 0126370 Attorney for Respondents / Appellees 2061 Delta Way Post Office Box 3209 Tallahassee FL 32315-3209 850 / 297 - 2011

November 6, 2000

###

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The First District Court's decision that the plain meaning of section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, does not authorize DOR to impose a tax on materials purchased by municipal electric utilities for the repair and refurbishment of their electric transmission and distribution systems, does not represent a matter of great public importance and does not warrant this Court's review. While the First District Court's ruling is correct and significant to Respondents, the Record on Appeal does not demonstrate that the ruling creates a significant revenue impact on the State of Florida.

When the legislature amended section 212.08(6) in 1996, it struck certain language from the statute. By not striking additional language, the legislature demonstrated an intent to retain the remaining language of section 212.08(6). Therefore, the remaining language clearly specifies that the general sales tax exemption for municipal electric utilities does not include materials used "for transmission or distribution *expansion*." However, the remaining language also clearly specifies that materials purchased by municipal electric utilities for the *repair or refurbishing* of electric transmission or distribution systems are exempt from sales tax (emphasis added). This Court must give full import to these words when interpreting section 212.08(6). To ignore them, or to lessen their effect, would reframe the statute according to an undeclared and purely surmised legislative intent. This the Court cannot do.

Assuming, arguendo, that a drafting error actually occurred, this Court still does not have the authority to alter the wording of the statute in the absence of any indication of legislative intent. If this Court undertook to correct a drafting error that alters the substantive meaning of section 212.08(6), it would be acting as a legislative body rather than as a judiciary body. This Court's function is to interpret the statute as it is written by the legislature, not as the DOR would like to have it written. Section 212.08(6) must be interpreted as it has been written, and full effect must be given to each word in the statute. Accordingly, the purchase of materials by municipal electric utilities for repairs and refurbishment of electric transmission and distribution systems is not subject to sales tax.

The disputed portion of section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, is an attempt by DOR to impose a tax on Respondents, and this dispute must be strictly construed against DOR. When the legislature first enacted Chapter 212, Florida Statutes, in 1949, municipal electric utilities were exempt from sales and use tax. Although the legislature subsequently eliminated portions of this general exemption by imposing a tax on specified generation, distribution and transmission materials, municipal electric utilities have retained most of their exemption status and remain generally exempt from taxation, subject only to the exclusions designated in section 212.08(6). Therefore, this Court should find that section 212.08(6), according to its plain language, does not impose a tax on municipal electric utilities for the repair or refurbishment of electric transmission and distribution systems.

#### I. THIS IS NOT A CASE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

The First District Court's Opinion, which is well-reasoned and entirely correct, is not

of great public importance and does not necessitate review by the Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 9.030(2)(a)(v), Fla.R.App.P. The Department of Revenue's ("DOR") unsubstantiated proclamation that the First District Court's ruling will create a great economic impact on the State of Florida, in contravention of the economic impact statement promulgated by the legislature concerning the 1996 amendment to section 212.08(6), is based on conjecture.

Neither the economic impact statement nor any legislative analysis was introduced into the record by either DOR or Respondents, and any reference by DOR to a fiscal impact on the state's revenues as a basis for review by this Court is improper. Because DOR has referred to an economic impact, albeit inappropriately, we will address the issue solely for making the point that the Record on Appeal is devoid of any evidence that the 1996 amendment creates a significant economic impact or burden on the state revenue. Indeed, Respondents could likewise argue that a significant economic impact to the state will not occur because the disputed exemption does not include sales tax on materials which generate a significant source of revenue for the state.

There is no economic impact statement in the Record on Appeal, and the Record on Appeal contains no such finding or evidence indicating an economic impact. In sum, the Record on Appeal contains no evidence that exempting from sales taxation materials<sup>2</sup> purchased by municipal electric utilities for the repair or refurbishment of electric transmission and distribution systems will deplete the state's revenue base.

Because there is no Record on Appeal demonstrating that an economic impact will occur as a result of the First District Court's ruling, there can be no presumption of a "great" public ramification. The exemption created by Chapter 96-397 is a matter of importance to Respondents because it clearly defines the boundaries of taxation which the DOR may not expand. Consequently, further review of the First District Court's decision by this Court is not warranted.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For linguistic ease, the term "materials" shall be used in place of "tangible personal property" throughout this brief.

II. ALTHOUGH DOR'S ASSERTION MAY BE CORRECT THAT THE TITLE TO CHAPTER 96-397 REFERS TO THE DELETION OF OBSOLETE LANGUAGE IN SECTION 212.08(6), FLORIDA STATUTES, DOR'S INTERPRETATION OF THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF THE CHANGES TO THE STATUTORY TEXT PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 96-397 IS ERRONEOUS

DOR's assertion that the 1996 amendment to section 212.08(6) merely served as a revisor's bill is misleading and inaccurate. A careful and thorough review of Chapter 96-397<sup>3</sup> clearly demonstrates that substantive changes to numerous laws were made. For example, section 212.12 was amended to reduce a penalty for failing to timely file certain tax returns. Section 125.0104 was amended to allow revenue from a local option tourist development tax to be used for convention center planning and design costs; to waive the prohibition against levying more than two percent local option tourist development tax in certain counties; to allow tax revenues to be used for certain tourism promotion agency administration, erosion control, and for beach park facilities; to prohibit use of local option tourist development tax revenues not expressly authorized; and to specify rules applicable to a county that has elected to assume audit assessment, collection, and enforcement responsibility for such tax. Also, section 72.011 was amended to require counties that administer a local option tourist development tax, or convention development tax, to provide certain requirements and procedures by ordinance with respect to a taxpayer's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> DOR included in its initial brief only a *partial* list of the changes enacted through Chapter 96-397, selectively including only those changes that appear to make the entire Act merely revisionary. DOR's statement that the Act has a "repeated focus on elimination of obsolete material" is a misrepresentation of the Act as a whole.

contest of an assessment or denial of refund. Section 212.0305 was amended to alter the list of ways in which a consolidated county can use proceeds from a tax it has levied.

In spite of misrepresenting Chapter 96-397, DOR is correct in that the specific title of Chapter 96-397 relating to section 212.08(6) refers to the deletion of obsolete words. However, DOR's rendition of the legislature's intent as to the actual text of section 212.08(6) is incorrect. DOR contends that the legislature intended to eliminate words which had lost their relevancy<sup>4</sup> and that, in doing so, the legislature merely deleted obsolete language without changing the substantive meaning of the statute. However, DOR is erroneously divining the mind of the legislature by presupposing that the legislature intended to expand the striking of words past the clear demarcation of the legislature's own print.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There is no evidence in the Record on Appeal to indicate which words had lost their relevancy in the opinion of the drafters of the amendment.

A. Chapter 96-397 demonstrates that the Legislature deleted existing statutory language when it amended Section 212.08(6), but relying only on the text of the title to Chapter 96-397 leaves the unanswered question of exactly *what* obsolete language did the Legislature intend to eliminate?"

The original text of the disputed amendment to section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, is found in Florida Law Sessions, Chapter 96-397. This text distinctly points out the stricken language at issue in this case:

... this exemption does not include sales, rental, use, consumption or storage for use in any political subdivision or municipality in this state of machines and equipment and parts and accessories therefor used in the generation, transmission or distribution of electrical energy by systems owned and operated by a political subdivision in this state except sales, rental, use, consumption, or storage for which bonds or revenue certificates are validated on or before January 1, 1973, for transmission or distribution expansion.

The title to Chapter 96-397 states that the legislature amended section 212.08 by "deleting obsolete provisions relating to exemptions for political subdivisions . . ." When analyzing the title in conjunction with the actual text of Chapter 96-397, it is readily apparent that the legislature intended to strike and did strike a portion of the statutory language. However, the underlying intent of the legislature in deleting this language cannot be ascertained by looking solely to the title of Chapter 96-397, as DOR requests this Court to do. A vital question remains unanswered by looking merely to the title without concurrently considering the actual text of the disputed amendment,. The correct question to be decided is: *what* language did the legislature intend to delete?

B. The question of what language the Legislature intended to delete must be answered by looking to the plain language of Chapter 96-397

The First District Court, in ruling on the question of what language the legislature intended to delete, looked to the statute's plain language and determined that the legislative intent was to strike only those words which were actually deleted<sup>5</sup>. DOR requests that this Court reverse that decision and reach a determination that the legislature intended to delete, as obsolete language, words beyond the parameter of the language actually deleted. However, the plain meaning of section 212.08(6) clearly establishes that this Court has no authority to overturn the ruling of the First District Court.

DOR's argument that Respondents are required to pay sales tax on materials purchased to repair or refurbish electric distribution or transmission systems can only be valid if the legislature intended to continue its pen-stroke through the words "for transmission or distribution expansion." Had these words been struck, all materials purchased for electric transmission or distribution systems owned and operated by a municipality would have been excluded from the municipal sales tax exemption and, thus, would be subject to taxation. However, with the words "for transmission and distribution expansion" left in the statute by the legislature, the DOR's authority under Section 212.08(6) to tax is limited. The statute can only be interpreted to exclude materials used for the sole purpose of "transmission or distribution *expansion*" from the municipal sales tax exemption (emphasis added). Thus, materials purchased by municipal electric utilities for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Florida Municipal Power Agency v. Dep't of Revenue, 764 So.2d 914, 916 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), citing Barnett Banks, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 738 So.2d 502, 504 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (quoting S.R.G. Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue, 365 So.2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1978)) (Stating that ". . . we cannot accept the department's contention that the statute must be read in light of its history rather than its plain language. 'In statutory construction, case law clearly requires that legislative intent be determined primarily from the language of the statute.'")

purposes beyond the scope of this exclusion, i.e. materials for repair or refurbishment of electric transmission and distribution systems, are not subject to taxation.

Further, absent any legislative intent to demonstrate other exclusions were intended, the statute cannot be construed by this Court according to DOR's interpretation<sup>6</sup>. In order to adopt DOR's interpretation, this Court would have to reframe Chapter 96-397 to omit the pertinent language "for distribution or transmission expansion<sup>7</sup>." However, a court cannot reframe a statute to derive a meaning not intended by the legislature, a concept best stated by this Court in *State ex rel. Seaboard Air Line R. Co. v. Gay*, 35 So.2d 403, 409 (Fla. 1948):

For us to construe the tax as being of a nature other than that plainly designated by the legislature . . . or as imposed upon one type of property when the legislature has said that it should be imposed upon another, would amount to our reframing the statutes, not construing them. This

be followed because it "contravenes the obvious intent of the legislature." However, the intent of the legislature is *not obvious* in this case. As stated in *Holly v. Auld*, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1984), citing *State ex rel. Hanbury v. Tunnicliffe*, 98 Fla. 731, 735, 124 So. 279, 281 (1929), "a departure from the letter of the statute, however, 'is sanctioned by the courts *only when there are cogent reasons for believing that the letter [of the law] does not accurately disclose the [legislative] intent*" (emphasis added). There are no cogent reasons for believing the plain language of Section 212.08(6) does not accurately reflect the legislative intent. Therefore this Court cannot overturn the District Court's literal interpretation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Such interpretation would render the words "for transmission and distribution expansion" superfluous and inconsequential, which is not permissible under rules of statutory construction. *See Vocelle v. Knight Bros. Paper Comp.*, 118 So.2d 664 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960), rehearing denied (stating "[i]f the language of a statute is clear and not entirely unreasonable or illogical in its operation, the court has no power to go outside the statute in search of excuses to give a different meaning to words used in the statute. A statute should be so construed as to give a meaning to every word and phrase in it and, if possible, so as to avoid the necessity of going outside the statute for aids to construction.")

we are not authorized to do; our only proper function being to interpret the law as it has been written by the legislature, not to recast it in the mold which we, perhaps, might like to have seen it written had we been responsible for its promulgation.

See also Maas Brothers v. Dickinson, 195 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1967); Dep't of Revenue v. Ray Construction of Okaloosa County, 667 So.2d 859, 865 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Rainey v. Dep't of Revenue, 353 So.2d 207, 209 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Florida Dep't of Business and Professional Regulation, Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering v. Investment Corp. of Palm Beach County, 747 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1999).

The Record on Appeal is devoid of any indication that the legislature intended to delete more language than was actually struck. Therefore, only one logical conclusion can be reached: the legislature intended to strike only the language actually deleted and to leave intact the remainder of the section. If the Court were to reach any other conclusion, it would have to guess how much farther the legislature intended to draw its pen. Suppose, for example, the legislature intended to continue the stroke of its pen through the words "for transmission," leaving the exclusion from sales tax to include only "machines and equipment and parts and accessories therefor used in the generation, transmission, or distribution of electrical energy systems owned and operated by a political subdivision in this state *for distribution expansion*." Such an interpretation would result in exempting transmission expansion from sales tax.

From this hypothetical it is obvious that any attempt to determine legislative intent, beyond the language struck, would lead to the unstable game by this Court of guessing

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